FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/21/2022 1:14 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101031-1

NO. 81504-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TONY WILLIAMS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Janice E. Ellis, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1a. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4), where insufficient evidence supports Williams's conviction for attempted first degree robbery and whether attempted first degree robbery is an alternative means crime presents a significant question of law and an issue of substantial public interest?

1b. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4), because whether a sufficiency challenge can be waived by invited error presents a significant question of law and an

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix. A motion for reconsideration was denied on May 24, 2022.

issue of substantial public interest, and if so, to determine whether defense counsel was ineffective in proposing jury instructions that were unnecessary and relieved the state of satisfying its burden of proof?²

- 2. Should review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the prosecution failed to prove Williams was armed with a firearm during commission of the attempted first degree robbery for purposes of the sentence enhancement?³
- 3. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the offenses of first degree assault and attempted first

² Williams unsuccessfully attempted to raise this issue in the motion to reconsider. He now asks this Court to exercise its discretion to consider, as it has in the past, this issue, despite its being raised again in this petition for review. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. McCullum</u>, 98 Wn.2d 484, 487-88, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983), <u>overruled on other grounds by State v. Camara</u>, 113 Wn.2d 631, 639, 781 P.2d 483 (1989); <u>Conner v. Universal Utils</u>, 105 Wn.2d 168, 171, 712 P.2d 849 (1986).

³ Williams unsuccessfully attempted to raise this issue in both a supplemental opening brief and the motion to reconsider. He also asks this Court to exercise its discretion and consider this issue.

degree robbery constitute the same criminal conduct under Washington's transactional view of robbery?

4. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where Williams was denied his constitutional right to confront witnesses and present a defense when evidence probative of the lead investigator's untruthfulness was improperly excluded?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Wade Clute made his living as a drug dealer, selling methamphetamine and heroin. 3RP⁴ 81. Early one August morning in 2018, Clute drove to a carwash in Lynwood to sell drugs. 3RP 82. Clute had drugs, \$4,600 in cash, and several hundred bullets inside his car. 1RP 488-89, 495, 531, 533-34, 541, 558; 3RP 82-83, 88.

Clute was in the driver's seat of his car smoking a cigarette when an unknown man approached and tried to tase him. 3RP 83; Ex. 1. Clute fought back and took the taser away,

⁴ The index to the citations to the record is found in the Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 4, n.1.

causing the man to flee. 3RP 83-84; Ex. 1. Clute returned to his car, put it into drive, and was driving away when a single gunshot struck him in the neck. Clute fell forward as the car continued to move forward, drove through a fence and off a small embankment. 3RP 84-85; Ex. 1. The man did not return to Clute's car. Ex. 1.

The shooter had already left when police arrived. 1RP 287; Ex. 1. Deputy Jacob Merrill stopped a car to speak with a woman he initially believed was involved in the incident. 1RP 258-59, 278-79, 287. The woman seemed nervous. 1RP 270. She told Merrill that she had been washing her car, but Merrill did not believe her. 1RP 279. Merrill failed to identify the woman or take a statement from her. 1RP 283, 287.

A single purple tinted shell casing was found at the car wash. 1RP 276-77, 292, 297-98, 300-01, 426-27, 435, 452. Police also obtained the surveillance video from the car wash and identified an orange PT Cruiser. Ex. 1; 1RP 236, 344, 347-48, 350, 566-67. Later that morning homeowner, Dean

Nakanishi observed an orange PT Cruiser parked on his residential street. 1RP 395-96. Nakanishi also noticed clothing along the side of his house. 1RP 396-98. Recognizing neither, Nakanishi contacted police. 1RP 397-99, 406-10, 503-04. Police seized both the clothing and the PT Cruiser. 1RP 406-08, 410, 423-24, 474.

Police had not identified any suspects nearly one week after the incident. 1RP 522. A now permanently paralyzed Clute was interviewed at the hospital by Detective David Fontenot. 1RP 360-61, 365-67; 3RP 86. Fontenot showed Clute a photograph of Kevin Helm. Clute responded, "it looks like him, that's the guy." 2RP 133-35, 151. Fontenot agreed, and arrested Helm for the shooting. 1RP 583-85; 2RP 109-10, 136, 152, 161.

A search of the PT Cruiser revealed paperwork in the name of Nicholas Naylor. 1RP 522, 524, 529. Fingerprints were collected from the car and sent for testing. 3RP 40-42. Fontenot listed Helm and Naylor as possible suspects on the request

form. 3RP 42. Fontenot also retrieved cigarette butts from the car and submitted them for DNA testing. 1RP 525-26. The butts tested positive for Naylor's DNA. 2RP 144; 3RP 116-17, 129.

In September 2018 Naylor was arrested while trying to hide from police. 1RP 669-73; 2RP 36-37. Naylor also told police that Helm was involved in the shooting. 1RP 672-73. Helm was found to be a possible contributor to the DNA profile for the black sweatshirt found outside Nakanishi's house. 3RP 111-13, 129, 135-36, 138. Helm was eventually released by police and excluded as a suspect however, after his DNA and fingerprints were found not to match any of the other collected evidence. 1RP 584, 586-90; 2RP 45-46, 48, 138, 144; 3RP 57, 62-63, 67-68, 109-10, 122-23, 129, 134-35.

Naylor and Williams had been friends since 2017 and stayed in touch while Naylor was in jail. 1RP 595-96, 602, 676; 2RP 36. The men frequently had video chats. 1RP 677-80; 2RP 34. During separate video calls, Williams was observed with a flashlight, a taser, and at a carwash. 1RP 685-87; 2RP 158-59.

Williams also put money on Naylor's jail account. 1RP 676-78; 3RP 90-91.

Williams was arrested in December 2018 while riding as a passenger in his wife's car. 2RP 34, 51-53, 61, 82-84, 114-17, 120. Williams was cooperative during his arrest. 2RP 119. A purple tinted bullet was found in the car's driver side door pocket. 2RP 55-56, 64-67, 84. A zippered bag on the car floorboard contained a bank card in Williams's name and two additional purple tinted bullets. 2RP 56-58, 70, 72, 84-87. The bag also contained a pistol magazine with three purple tinted bullets. 2RP 61-63, 71. The car's center console contained a handheld electric taser. 2RP 68. It was not the same taser used during the incident. 1RP 480-82, 495-96, 498; Exs. 210-15.

Fontenot collected DNA reference samples from Naylor and Williams. 2RP 45, 48-49, 75-76; 3RP 118-20. Those samples were tested against the various clothing items found outside Nakanishi's house. 1RP 511-15; 2RP 49-50. Williams was one of three DNA contributors to the black hat with a

matching profile of one in 5.7 quintillion. Clute, Helm, and Naylor did not match the two other unknown profiles. 3RP 109-11, 122-24, 129, 135. Hair fibers from inside the hat were not tested. 3RP 148.

Hair fibers from inside the black sweatshirt also were not tested. 3RP 126. Williams was one of four DNA contributors to the sweatshirt with a matching profile of one in 6.3 octillion. 3RP 111-12, 129, 135-36. Clute, Helm, and Naylor were also found to be possible DNA contributors, with Naylor a one in 260,000 match. 3RP 112-14, 137-38.

Several other items were found to contain multiple DNA contributors, including black gloves, sunglasses, the flashlight taser, and a camouflage jacket. 3RP 114-16, 121. Police were not able to match those DNA profiles to any of the known reference samples. 3RP 114-16, 129. Williams was excluded as a DNA contributor to the sunglasses. 3RP 116, 122, 129.

Police could not determine when the DNA was placed on the clothing. 3RP 139, 146-47. Police also acknowledged that

the DNA could have been transferred among items if all the clothing was placed into a common bag. 3RP 125. Nakanishi had, in fact, placed all the clothing into a single bag. 1RP 397.

Multiple items were tested for fingerprints, including the PT Cruiser, taser found in Clute's car, pistol magazine and purple bullets found in Williams's wife's car, and the purple shell casing found at the car wash. Williams's fingerprints were not found on any of the items. 3RP 57, 59, 62-6-65, 67-71, 76-77.

The purple tinted shell casing was determined to have been fired from a .40 caliber pistol. 3RP 15-16. The gun used during the incident was not recovered so police could not conclusively determine that the bullet recovered from Clute was fired from purple tined shell casing found at the car wash. 3RP 22, 38. Police also could not confirm the pistol magazine found in Williams's wife's car worked with the gun used during the incident. 3RP 38.

About one year after his arrest, Naylor decided to cooperate with the police investigation. 1RP 597-98; 2RP 35. In exchange for providing information and testifying against Williams, Naylor was given a favorable plea offer. 1RP 598-600. Naylor pled guilty to reduced charges of second degree robbery and second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. 1RP 596-599, 628.

Naylor testified that he had observed Williams purchase purple tinted bullets at a Big 5 Sporting Goods about one month before the shooting. 1RP 665-66; 2RP 162-65, 167-68. There was no surveillance video of the alleged purchase. 2RP 164. Naylor later watched Williams load the bullets into a .40 caliber pistol. 1RP 667-68. There was no information as to how many purple tinted bullets were produced or sold. 3RP 198-99.

Naylor explained that on August 4 he met his friend, Amy Chavez, to use methamphetamine and heroin. 1RP 605-08; 2RP 89-91, 95. Chavez purchased drugs from Clute and mentioned to Naylor that Clute "had a significant amount of money and heroin." 1RP 607; 2RP 95-96, 98-99. Naylor told Williams that he had a "good money making opportunity." 1RP 606, 611. When Williams arrived to meet Naylor, he was dressed like the person depicted in the car wash surveillance video. 1RP 612.

Chavez informed them that Clute would be at the car wash. Williams and Naylor decided to rob Clute of his drugs and money. 1RP 602, 613-14; 2RP 96-97. The men planned to tase Clute and then go through his pockets and car looking for drugs and money. 1RP 616-17, 629, 634. They did not intend to shoot Clute. 1RP 602.

Naylor drove Williams to the car was in his orange PT Cruiser. 1RP 610, 616, 630; 2RP 91, 93, 99-100. Chavez followed them in her car. 1RP 614; 2RP 101. Clute was still washing his car when the men arrived. 1RP 634-35. Naylor gave Williams gloves to wear while he used the taser on Clute. 1RP 631, 651-52; 2RP 41. Williams approached Clute while he was seated in his car and attempted to tase him. 1RP 636.

Williams fled after Clute took the taser from him. 1RP 636-37; Ex. 1. Naylor believed the unsuccessful robbery was over and returned to the PT Cruiser. 1RP 636-37. Naylor did not witness the shooting but saw Clute's car drive off the embankment. 1RP 637, 639-30.

Naylor and Williams left the car wash after the shooting. 1RP 639-40. Naylor denied seeing Clute with a gun. 1RP 640. Williams first told Naylor that Clute had a gun, before acknowledging that he had fired a "warning shot." 1RP 640. Naylor and Williams parked the PT Cruiser on a residential side street with the intention of abandoning it. 1RP 640-44. Naylor attempted to remove identifying information from the car, including fingerprints and personal items. 1RP 649-57. At Naylor's request, Chavez picked up the men. 1RP 644; 2RP 101-02. Naylor told Chavez that Williams had shot Clute. 1RP 649; 2RP 104. Chavez did not see anyone with a gun or purple tinted bullets. 2RP 107. She could not recall what Williams looked like or what he was wearing. 2RP 106.

Based on this evidence, Williams was charged with first degree assault, attempted first degree robbery, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. The state alleged the assault and attempted robbery were committed with a firearm. CP 176-77. A jury convicted Williams as charged. 1RP 699-713; CP 95-99.

Williams was sentenced to concurrent prison sentences of 236 months on the assault, 48 months on the attempted robbery, and 48 months on each of the unlawful possession convictions. 1RP 745-46; CP 35-49. The trial court also imposed two consecutive firearm enhancements; 120 months on the assault conviction and 72 months on the attempted robbery. 1RP 745-46. Williams was sentenced to a total prison term of 428 months. 1RP 746; CP 35-39.

1. <u>Impeachment Evidence.</u>

Williams sought to cross-examine Fontenot about two instances which occurred in 2005 during his prior employment as a Clallam County Sheriff's deputy. 1RP 185-87. One on

occasion, Fontenot had taken evidence from a storage facility without logging it into evidence. On a separate occasion, Fontenot signed an affidavit attesting to having served a seizure notice which he had not actually done so. Both instances were internally investigated by the sheriff's department and "Fontenot was given a two week suspension for violating department policy for failing to perform basic duties in a competent manner. Fontenot was allowed to buy back one of the weeks with 40 hours of vacation time. In addition to the suspension, he was placed on a six month period of performance monitoring." Ex. 712 at 18. Ultimately, Fontenot resigned from the Sheriff's Department based on this internal another involving claims of sexual investigation and harassment. Id.

As part of its disclosure to Williams of the investigations involving Fontenot, the prosecutor included a memorandum issued by the prosecutor's office, which read:

On January 10, 2014, this office made a determination that certain information if heard by a reasonable person such as a judge or a juror could lead that person to conclude that Deputy Dave Fontenot was dishonest in the performance of his office duties in May 2005 while a sergeant with the Clallam County Sheriff's Office. Deputy Dave Fontenot signed a return of service on a seizure notice that had not yet been served. He had instructed a fellow deputy to serve it earlier that day and may well have believed it had been served. Nonetheless, it had not, so when he attested to by signing the return describing that, so what he attested to by signing the return was untrue. No property was lost and the deputy served the notice the next morning. A reasonable person could conclude that what Fontenot wrote was untruthful, although his explanation is plausible. This memorandum has been generated to provide the Defense notice of this potential impeachment issue.

1RP 185.

Williams argued the instances were relevant to Fontenot's untruthfulness under ER 608(b). 1RP 184-87. The prosecution argued the instances were not material to Williams's case, not indicative of untruthfulness, and too remote in time to be relevant. 1RP 183, 187-88.

The trial court agreed with the prosecution, concluding that the instances went to a collateral issue and were too remote in time to be probative of Fontenot's truthfulness. 1RP 188-89; 2RP 176-77. Thus, Williams was prohibited from inquiring into Fontenot's prior employment finding concerning his veracity.

2. <u>Court of Appeals.</u>

Williams raised several arguments on appeal. First, Williams argued that attempted first degree robbery was an alternative means crime and challenged the sufficiency of the evidence that he was armed with a deadly weapon and/or displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon as charged. The Court of Appeals declined to reach the merits of Williams's arguments, instead concluding that he invited the error by proposing an instruction defining all three of the alternative means of committing first degree robbery set out in RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a) and the charging information. Op. at 4-8.

In his motion for reconsideration, Williams argued that whether evidence supports the charged alternative means of

attempted first degree robbery was an issue of sufficiency, not instructional error. Alternatively, Williams asked the Court of Appeals to address whether defense counsel was ineffective in proposing jury instructions that were unnecessary and relieved the state of satisfying its burden of proof.

Williams also argued that the trial court erred by failing to count the first degree assault and attempted first degree robbery as the same criminal conduct for sentencing purposes. Finally, Williams argued he was deprived of his constitutional right to confront witnesses and present a defense when evidence probative of Fontenot's untruthfulness was excluded. The trial court rejected both arguments. Op. at 8-18.

By motion, Williams also sought to file a supplemental brief challenge the sufficiency of the evidence that Williams was armed with a firearm during commission of the attempted first degree robbery for purposes of the sentence enhancement. Williams's motion was denied, and he subsequently attempted to raise the issue in the motion to reconsider.

D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED

- 1. This Court should grant review and hold that attempted first degree robbery is an alternative means crime, and whether evidence supports a charged alternative means is an issue of sufficiency, not instructional error.
 - a. <u>Insufficient evidence supports the alternative</u> means that Williams was armed with a deadly weapon and/or displayed a firearm or other deadly weapon.

Due process requires the State to prove each element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); State v. Deer, 175 Wn.2d 725, 731, 287 P.3d 539 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 991, 184 L. Ed. 2d 770 (U.S. 2013). Additionally, the accused has a constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict. U.S. Const., amend. VI; Wash. Const., art. 1, § 22. This right includes the right to express jury unanimity on the means by which the defendant committed the crime when alternative means are alleged. State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994).

First degree robbery is an alternative means crime under RCW 9A.56.200 (1)(a). In re Personal Restraint of Brockie, 178 Wn.2d 532, 538, 309 P.3d 498 (2013); State v. Emery, 161 Wn. App. 172, 198-99, 253 P.3d 413, aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); State v. Smith, 159 Wn.2d 778, 784, 154 P.3d 873 (2007). To prove an attempt to commit a crime, the State must prove the defendant, while acting "with intent to commit a specific crime," performed "any act which is a substantial step toward the commission of that crime." RCW 9A.28.020(1). The intent required is the intent to accomplish the criminal result of the base crime. State v. Johnson, 173 Wn.2d 895, 899, 270 P.3d 591 (2012).

As charged, the state was required to prove that Williams took a substantial step toward the crime of first degree robbery with intent to commit that offense, either by inflicting bodily injury *or* being armed with a deadly weapon *or* displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon. CP 18, 176-77; RCW 9A.56.190; RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(i-iii).

Williams argued there was insufficient evidence to support a finding of guilt on the alternative means that he was armed with a deadly weapon and/or displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon during the commission or in immediate flight therefrom. As Williams argued, if the State need only prove whether Williams acted with intent to commit theft of personal property and whether he took a substantial step toward accomplishing that result and not the means by which he attempted to do so, the State could obtain a conviction of attempted first degree robbery by proving nothing more than attempted second degree robbery. Thus, the means by which an individual commits first degree robbery are necessary to a charge of attempt because the jury's unanimous agreement as to the means of first degree robbery are what allows for a conviction on the greater charge. BOA at 18-35.

While acknowledging that whether first degree robbery is an alternative means crime was "by no means clearly established under the law," the Court of Appeals declined to reach the merits of the argument, instead concluding that Williams invited the error by proposing an instruction defining all three of the alternative means of committing first degree robbery set out in RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a) and the charging information. Op. at 5-6.

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