FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/20/2022 1:55 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME NO. 101031-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

TONY JOSEPH WILLIAMS,

Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

MATTHEW R PITTMAN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

# **

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of the case relevant to those issues considered by the lower court have been adequately set out in the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals appended to the defendant's petition for review. Additional facts relevant to claims not previously considered by the Court of Appeals are contained in Ex. 1 and detailed in Am. Br. of Resp't, Statement of the Case, at 2-39.

# III. ARGUMENT

This court may accept, in its discretion, review of a decision of the Court of Appeals if the decision (1) conflicts with a decision of this court or the Court of Appeals, (2) presents a significant question of

constitutional law, or (3) involves an issue of substantial public interest that this court should decide. RAP 13.4(b).

As detailed below, none of the above factors support this court granting review of the Court of Appels decision.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY APPLIED THE DOCTINE OF INVITED ERROR TO THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF PREJUDICE ARISING FROM JURY INSTRUCTION UNDER SETTLED AND CLEAR WASHINGTON JURISPRUDENCE.

The defendant, in the Court of Appeals, argued that Washington Constitutional jurisprudence regarding instruction on each of the alternative means in a "to convict" instruction as to the *completed* crime should be extended to *attempted* crimes where the alternatives are not elements, but mentioned only in an accompanying definitional instruction.

Based on this legal claim, the defendant argued that reversal was warranted because insufficient evidence

supported two of the three claimed "alternative means" in the definition the jury was instructed upon.

The Court of Appeals did not reach the substance of the defendant's legal claim, noting simply that defendant's underlying contention that the attempted crime was to be treated the same as a completed crime was "by no means clearly established under the law[.]" Slip. Op. at 5-6.

Rather, the Court of Appeals held that, given the defendant himself had proposed the definitional instruction giving rise to the prejudice he claimed, he had waived appellate review under the doctrine of "invited error," citing precedent including State v. Carson, 179 Wn. App. 961, 320 P.3d 185 (2015); State v. Corbett, 158 Wn. App. 576, 242 P.3d 52 (2010); State v. Holt, 119 Wn. App. 712, 82 P.3d 688 (2004) and State v. Winings, 126 Wn. App. 75, 107 P.3d 141 (2005).

While defendant argues that this Court should reach and resolve the underlying issue of 'alternative means'

and attempted crime jury instruction, this case is not the appropriate vehicle to do so. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the doctrine and modifying the doctrine as the defendant now proposes would result in law that conflicts with prior clear precedent and uncertainty as to application of that doctrine overall.

Defendant claims that the doctrine of invited error was inapplicable and the Court of Appeals erred. This is not the case. The defendant's arguments against "invited error" here conflate that doctrine with that of "waiver on appeal." The doctrines are distinct in present jurisprudence and must remain so.

Under the "waiver-on-appeal" doctrine, a claim of error may be waived by a party on appeal where that party did not object to the error at the trial court level. RAP 2.5(a). A mere failure to object below, however, will not be deemed to waive an appellate claim premised on a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP

2.5(a)(3). The same considerations apply to claims of prejudice and error predicated on the jury instructions provided.

In general, parties must contemporaneously object to proposed jury instructions. CrR 6.15(c). However, RAP 2.5(a)(3) allows a party to object for the first time on appeal where there is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Application of RAP 2.5(a)(3) depends on the answers to two questions: (1) Has the party claiming error shown the error is truly of a constitutional magnitude, and if so, (2) has the party demonstrated that the error is manifest? In this case, the answer to both questions is no.

State v. Grott, 195 Wn.2d 256, 267, 458 P.3d 750 (2020) (internal citation omitted).

The doctrine of "invited error," applicable here, however, is different than the doctrine of "waiver-on-appeal" addressed in <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 1998) and <u>State v. Sweany</u>, 162 Wn. App. 223, 228, 256 P.3d 1230 (2011).

First, its application depends on more than merely not objecting to an instruction. The party against whom it is applied must have taken some form of affirmative action that helped induce the lower court into giving the error generating instruction. State v. Hood, 196 Wn. App. 127, 133, 382 P.2d 710 (2016) (Denying application of the doctrine against the defendant because the record did not reveal the defendant formally stipulated to the erroneous instruction proposed by the State.) The requirement of affirmative action does not include simple failure to object to an instruction proposed by the other party. State v. Goble, 131 Wn. App. 194, 203, Fn. 5, 126 P.3d 821 (2005) ("[M]ere failure to object to an instruction proposed by the other party does not establish invited error.")

In <u>Hickman</u>, there is no indication that the defendant affirmatively proposed the instruction in question and the court never examined the doctrine of invited error.

Rather, the court only examined the separate issue of

waiver-on-appeal by failing to object to the instruction below. In doing so it dismissed the State's argument that the lack of objection below waived appellate review giving the underlying issue of sufficiency of the evidence was a manifest error of constitutional magnitude. <u>Id</u>. at 103, fn. 3, citing <u>State v. Alvarez</u>, 128 Wn.2d 1, 9, 904 P.2d 754 (1995).

In <u>Sweany</u>, 162 Wn. App. at 228, the sufficiency issue arising from the jury instruction was also a question whether there was "waiver on appeal" due to lack of objection below. <u>Sweany</u>, 162 Wn. App. at 228 ("[N]or did they object to the jury instruction[.]")

In both <u>Hickman</u> and <u>Sweany</u>, despite the failure to object, the defendants were allowed to proceed with their claims on appeal because sufficiency, the issue that arose from the instructions, was a manifest error of constitutional right. "Invited error" is different. The

doctrine of invited error will preclude appellate review of even constitutional errors.

The invited error doctrine is a strict rule that precludes a criminal defendant from seeking appellate review of an error he helped create, even when the alleged error involves constitutional rights.

<u>Carson</u>, 179 Wn. App. 961, 973, 320 P.3d 185, 190 (2014).

Moreover, it applies to only claims of error or prejudice to which the defendant "materially contributed," by his or her *affirmative* actions, as opposed to merely failure to object regardless how defendant labels the prejudice.

In determining whether the invited error doctrine applies, our courts consider whether the defendant affirmatively assented to the error, materially contributed to it, or benefited from it. The doctrine appears to require affirmative actions by the defendant.

<u>State v. Hood</u>, 196 Wn. App. 127, 133, 382 P.3d 710 (2016).

Defendant's attempt to label his claim as solely one of sufficiency of the evidence is not supported. He does not and cannot challenge that the jury did not have sufficient evidence to support the verdict as they were actually instructed here, to include the to-convict instruction. His claim is *necessarily* that the Washington Constitution requires that the jurors should have been instructed differently, and *if they had been so instructed*, there would have been insufficient evidence under such instructions and he would not have suffered the prejudice he now claims.

Ultimately, jurisprudence reveals the invited error doctrine precludes constitutional claims applies specifically to sufficiency of the evidence prejudice that the defendant helped create by proposing the relevant jury instructions.

Winings asserts that his conviction must be reversed because the jury was instructed on each alternative means of committing assault, and one of these means—attempted battery—was not supported by sufficient evidence. ... Under the doctrine of invited error, even where constitutional rights are involved, we are precluded from reviewing jury instructions when the defendant has proposed an instruction or agreed to its wording.

Winings, 126 Wn. App. at 89.

The defendant in this matter helped create the sufficiency issue he complains of on appeal by affirmatively proposing the supposedly erroneous instruction that gave rise to it.

The doctrine of invited error applies, not waiver-onappeal. The defendant is therefore precluded from raising even constitutional error his proposed instruction helped create.

A party cannot submit the instructions on a certain theory of law and then when the verdict goes against him complain that there is a lack of evidence to support the giving of an instruction which he himself requested.

<u>Burnett v. Hunt</u>, 5 Wn. App. 385, 393, 486 P.2d 1129 (1971). <u>See also, Winings</u>, 126 Wn. App. at 89.

The defendant's separate attempt to escape the doctrine by arguing that the State submitted, in effect, the same instruction is also unavailing.

While the State would be precluded from arguing court error premised on the instruction under the doctine of invited error, that does not mean the defendant does not remain separately precluded. Whether or not the doctrine applies to the defendant turns on, as above, whether or not the defendant took affirmative action that helped create the issue he now complains of on appeal, full stop. Id. at 546-47.

The defendant is not somehow relieved where the State may have separately also helped create the same issue by proposing the same instruction. This is additionally seen in the numerous cases applying the invited error doctrine against the defendant where the State was the one that proposed the underlying instruction, and the defendant merely affirmatively agreed

to it. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. White</u>, 186 Wn. App. 1046, \*2 (2015) (Unpublished) (Invited error doctrine precluded the defendant's unanimous jury based appellate claim where the defendant indicated to the trial court it was adopting State's jury instructions which did not include a unanimity instruction); <u>State v. Jamison</u>, 181 Wn. App. 1032, \*1 (2014) (Unpublished) ("[Defendant] expressed affirmative agreement to the instructions by joining in the State's proposed instructions. She cannot now challenge that instruction."); <u>State v. Clardy</u>, 180 Wn. App. 1030, \*6 (2014) (Unpublished)<sup>1</sup>

Defendant now also cites to <u>State v. Weaver</u>, 198 Wn.2d 459, 496 P.3d 1183 (2021). Here, the defendant's present claim appears to be that <u>Weaver</u> stands for the proposition that the State's proposal or acquiescence to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to GR 14.1, the State cites to these unpublished opinions solely for the persuasive value of their reasoning.

the jury instruction giving rise to the claimed prejudice precludes the application of "invited error" where the defendant also proposed the instruction. <u>Weaver</u>, however, does not stand for that proposition. There the defendant did not propose the instruction specifically giving rise to the claimed prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 465 ("The invited error doctrine does not apply here because Mr. Weaver did not propose the challenged jury instruction.")

This Court of Appeals did not err in determining that the defendant was precluded under the doctrine of invited error from raising a sufficiency of the evidence claims on appeal given he helped create the resulting error by affirmatively proposing an instruction that necessarily gave rise to the error. This court should not modify the clear jurisprudence applying the doctrine in these circumstances.

# B. REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED ON THE DEFENDANT'S LATE-RAISED SEPARATE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE.

Defendant, in his motion for reconsideration to the Court of Appeals after its ruling, urged as a new claim that, should the appellate court maintain its position that he is precluded on appeal from raising his underlying claim of error by the invited error doctrine, it should consider whether trial counsel's proposal of the instruction so precluding that appellate claim constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration.

Defendant now raises this argument in his petition for review before this court.

#### 1. This Court Should Not Hear This New Claim.

Defendant seeks review in this court of a matter never considered by the trial court or Court of Appeals previously. Whether a matter never raised until a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals was appropriate for Supreme Court review was previously addressed in a civil matter, <u>Connor v. Universal Utilities</u>, 105 Wn.2d 168, 712 P.2d 849 (1986). There:

The Conners contend that the due process issue should not be addressed because Universal Utilities did not raise it at trial or in the Court of Appeals until its motion for reconsideration. RAP 2.5(a), however, provides that a party may raise a claim of "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" for the first time in the appellate court. It is consistent with RAP 2.5(a) for a party to raise the issue of denial of procedural due process in a civil case at the appellate level for the first time.

### Id. at 171.

There are distinctions between appeals in civil and criminal matters that would support expanding the boundaries of hearing new issues on appeal in the former but not the latter. Criminal matters are different than civil matters. Attempts to raise new claims not reviewed below should be disfavored.

In a criminal matter, the defendant retains the ability to bring a personal restraint petition raising constitutional issues after appeal. The issue will not evade review unless this court grants his petition.

Moreover, the personal restraint petition is the only vehicle to resolve claims that turn on facts outside the appellate record. The need for additional facts is often presented in a claim of ineffective assistance with the need to examine counsel's reasons for his or her actions which may not be readily apparent from the record. State v. Byrd, 30 Wn. App. 794, 800, 638 P.2d 601 (1981) ("A personal restart petition is the appropriate procedure to raise a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel based on matters outside the record on appeal.")

# 2. The Defendant's Claim He Was Denied Effective Assistance of Counsel Is Without Merit.

Even if the court were willing to entertain this late raised claim, the defendant was not denied effective

assistance of counsel and the petition should not be granted otherwise.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant bears the burden of proving both (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 32-38, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). As detailed below, the defendant is unable to meet his burden as to either prong.

#### a. Counsel was not deficient

In reviewing a defendant's claim of ineffectiveness, a court starts with the "strong presumption" that counsel was not deficient. In re Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 673, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). This presumption can be rebutted where a defendant is able to show that his or her "attorney's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms." Id. at 673, quoting Kimmelman v.

Morrison, 477 U.S. 36, 384, 106 S.Ct. 2574, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986).

Prevailing professional norms and reasonableness in light of such does not involve an examination as to whether the trial attorney failed to pursue at trial, or foreclosed the ability to pursue on appeal, "novel legal theories or arguments." State v. Brown, 159 Wn. App. 366, 371, 245 P.3d 776 (2011) citing Anderson v. United States, 393 F.3d 749, 754 (8th Cir. 2005); see also, State v. Cushman, 4 Wn. App. 2d 1027, \*9 (2018) (Unpublished).<sup>2</sup> The constitution guarantees defendant a right to competent representation under professional norms, but it "does not insure that defense counsel will recognize ... every conceivable constitutional claim." Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 134, 102 S.Ct. 1558, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to GR 14.1, the State cites this unpublished opinion solely for its persuasive value.

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